IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHNNY BENNETT A/K/A JOHNNY RENARDO BENNETT

APPELLANT

V.

NO.2008-KA-00153-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE



BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

Leslie S. Lee, Miss. Bar N 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHNNY BENNETT A/K/A JOHNNY RENARDO BENNETT

APPELLANT

V.

NO.2008-KA-00153-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS 2
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT6
ARGUMENT7
ISSUE NO. 1. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DENYING AN ALIBI INSTRUCTION TO APPELLANT, DEPRIVING HIM OF ANY INSTRUCTION ON HIS THEORY OF DEFENSE
ISSUE NO. 2: THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL
A. Counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately present an alibi defense 12
B. Counsel was ineffective for failing to prevent irrelevant and highly prejudicial evidence of Appellant's alleged gang affiliation
C. Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to irrelevant and prejudicial evidence of other crimes or bad acts
D. Standard of Review
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES:

Adams v. State, 772 So. 2d 1010 (Miss. 2000)
Anderson v. State, 571 So.2d 961 (Miss. 1990)
Chinn v. State, 958 So.2d 1223 (Miss. 2007)
Cochran v. State, 913 So.2d 371 (Miss.App.2005)
Colenburg v. State, 735 So. 2d 1099 (Miss. App. 1999)
Dao v. State, No. 2006-KA-01170-COA (Miss. App. December 17, 2007) 19, 20
Dawson v. Delaware, 503 U.S. 159 (1992)
Epps v. State, No. 2007-KA-00139-COA (Miss.App. February 19, 2008)
Goff v. State, 778 So.2d 779 (Miss.App. 2000)
Goree v. State, 748 So.2d 829 (Miss.App. 1999)
Hester v. State, 602 So2d 869 (Miss. 1992)
Hiter v. State, 660 So. 2d 961 (Miss. 1995)
Hoops v. State, 681 So.2d 521 (Miss. 1996)
Jackson v. State, 645 So.2d 921(Miss. 1994)
Johnson v. State, 926 So.2d 246 (Miss.App. 2005)
Lancaster v. State, 472 So. 2d 363 (Miss. 1985)
Leatherwood v. State, 473 So. 2d 964 (Miss. 1985)
Lester v. State, 862 So.2d 582 (Miss.App. 2004)
Madison v. State, 923 So. 2d 252 (Miss. App. 2006)

McGee v. State, 820 So.2d 700 (Miss.App. 2000)
McQuarter v. State, 574 So. 2d 685 (Miss. 1990)
Miller v. State, 733 So.2d 846 (Miss.App. 1998)
Murphy v. State, 566 So.2d 1201 (Miss.1990)
O'Bryant v. State, 530 So.2d 129 (Miss. 1988)
Phillipson v. State, 943 So.2d 670 (Miss. 2006)
Pierce v. State, 289 So.2d 901 (Miss. 1974)
Randall v. State, 806 So.2d 185 (Miss. 2001)
Read v. State, 430 So.2d 832 (Miss. 1983)
Roach v. State, 938 So.2d 863 (Miss.App. 2006)
Roper v. State, No. 2006-KA-01791-COA (Miss.App. January 8, 2008)
Sayles v. State, 552 So.2d 1383 (Miss.1989)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
United States v. Abel, 469 U.S. 45 (1984)
Walton v. State, No. 2006-KA-01065-COA (Miss.App. November 13, 2007) 28
Ward v. State, 479 So. 2d 713 (Miss. 1985)
CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITIES
U.S. Const. Sixth Amendment
Miss. Const., Art. 3, Section 26

IRE 404(b)18
IRE 40318
COLES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DENYING AN ALIBI INSTRUCTION TO APPELLANT, DEPRIVING HIM OF ANY INSTRUCTION ON HIS THEORY OF DEFENSE.

ISSUE NO. 2: THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

- A. Counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately present an alibi defense.
- B. Counsel was ineffective for failing to prevent irrelevant and highly prejudicial evidence of Appellant's alleged gang affiliation.
- C. Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to irrelevant and prejudicial evidence of other crimes or bad acts.
- D. Standard of Review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Wayne County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crime of first degree arson against the appellant, Johnny Bennett. Bennett was subsequently sentenced to serve twenty (20) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, ordered to pay ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) in restitution, and was fined of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00), along with court costs of two hundred ninety-four dollars and fifty cents (\$294.50). Tr. 268, C.P. 53, R.E. 17. This sentence followed a jury trial on December 17-18, 2007, with sentencing on January 23, 2008, Honorable Lester F. Williamson, Jr., Circuit Judge, presiding. Bennett is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

According the trial testimony, during the very early morning hours of November 25, 2006, Eddie Poole's and Sharlemeshia Arrington's Wayne County trailer burned to the ground. Tr. 122, 125. Mike Mazingo, a Wayne County Sheriff's Office Investigator, was later contacted by someone who told him he needed to investigate the fire as an arson. Tr. 143. Based on the call, he meet with Jameer Everett, the Appellant Johnny Bennett's son. Based on the conversation with Everett, Mazingo contacted the State Fire Marshal's Office and began an investigation. The investigation determined that the fire at the trailer was arson. Tr. 144, 138.

Edward O'Brian Williamson testified he knew Bennett since he lived in the same trailer park, Northgate. Williamson testified that on November 25, 2006, he and Bennett hung out after he got home from work. Tr. 71. Later that evening, they were joined by Everett, Bennett's son, and Legarrian Blakley, Everett's cousin. They all drove around socializing and hanging out. Tr. 71-72. Williamson testified that Bennett told him that he had a problem with a guy and needed his help to burn down his trailer. Williamson also claimed Bennett threatened to hurt him if he did not help. Tr. 73.

The group of four then rode out to Everett's mother's house to obtain a gas jug. Tr. 74, 78. They then went to a gas station and Williamson put \$4.00 worth of gas in his car, and \$1.00 worth of gas in the jug. Bennett paid for the gas. Tr. 78. Williamson was not sure of

¹ The date would actually have been November 24, 2006, but the record reflects several witnesses continued to confuse the actual date of the fire since it occurred at about 1:00 a.m. on November 25, 2006. Tr. 131-32, 143.

the time this happened, but guessed it was around midnight or 1:00 a.m. Before leaving the gas station, Blakley's father called and they took Blakley home. Tr. 77, 79. Williamson claimed he told Bennett that Everett should not be involved in this because he was too young.² Everett was then dropped off at Bennett's residence. Tr. 80.

Williamson alleged that Bennett then directed him where to drive. They pulled up next to a trailer. Williamson testified Bennett got out and went to another trailer with the gas jug. He kicked in the front door and poured the gas and started the fire. He ran back to the car and directed Williamson to go back to their trailer park. Tr. 81. Williamson claimed his only involvement in the arson was to pump the gas and drive out there. He claimed he never left the car. Tr. 82. Williamson further alleged Bennett told him the following day that if he told anyone about the incident, Bennett would kill him, and further, to tell police, if asked, that the gas was for his girlfriend's car. Tr. 85.

Williamson admitted that when he did speak to police, he denied any knowledge about the burned trailer. Tr. 85. He claimed he was scared, and that he had received cell phone threats and had been shot at by an unknown person. He then went to police a second time and told them the truth. Tr. 86-87, 91. Williamson also admitted that he pled guilty to arson that very morning, but had no plea agreement. Tr. 70.

Jameer Everett was called as a witness for the State. He confirmed that he, Williamson, Blakley, and Bennett all rode around together on November 25, 2006. However,

²Everett was 16 years old at the time of trial. Tr. 92. Blakley was 17 years old at the time of trial. Tr. 112.

contrary to Williamson's testimony, he alleged all four of them went to Eddie James' trailer. Tr. 94-95. No one appeared to be home, so they left. Tr. 96. They drove to Everett's house to get a gas jug. Everett claimed it was Bennett's idea to get the jug and that Everett actually went in and got it for Bennett. Tr. 97. He admitted he lied to his mother and said he needed the jug because his cousin ran out of gas. Tr. 98. After getting the gas and dropping Blakley off, they went to Bennett's residence. Tr. 99-100. Everett first testified that Williamson talked as if he was not satisfied that Poole was not home. (He later corrected himself and said it was Bennett who was not satisfied). Tr. 100, 108. After about ten minutes, Bennett and Williamson left. Everett stayed at the trailer and talked with Blakley on the phone. Tr. 101.

Everett testified Williamson and Bennett returned about 30 minutes later. Tr. 102. Bennett told him to tell police the gas was for his girlfriend's car. Tr. 103. A couple of days later, Everett did speak to police. Investigator Mazingo had him call Bennett while he listened in on the conversation. Bennett told Everett the police had nothing on him and to stick to the plan. Tr. 104-05, 146.

The State also called Legarrian Blakley, who also confirmed he and Everett and Bennett and Williamson went all together on November 25, 2006. Tr. 113-14. Contrary to Williamson, he also testified the four of them went to Poole's trailer. He remembers Williamson and Bennett wanting to see if Poole was home. Tr. 115. He did not hear any discussion of what Bennett was going to do. They went back to town and first went to

Everett's house to look for a gas jug. Tr. 116. After putting gas in the car and the jug, he had to go after getting a call from his father. Tr. 117.

Sharlemeshia Arrington testified and stated that she lived with Eddie Poole in his trailer with her four children. She said they both owned the trailer. She stated that she knew Bennett and never had a problem with him. Tr. 122. She also related that she was with her mother in Laurel when she received a call early in the morning on November 25, 2006, telling her that her trailer was on fire. Tr. 123-24. Arrington testified the trailer was a complete loss. Tr. 125.

A neighbor of Arrington's, Jennifer Reed, testified that she awoke very early on November 25, 2006, and while investigating falling noises she heard outside, saw flames coming from Arrington's trailer. Tr. 127-28. She did see a car parked outside earlier, but did not think anything of it since cars park out there all the time. Tr. 129. She believed it took the fire department about 20 minutes to get out there after she called 911. Tr. 131-32.

Bennett attempted to present an alibi defense through his girlfriend at the time, Amy Wilson.³ Wilson confirmed she lived with Bennett during the month of November of 2006. Tr. 171. She was asked by counsel if she recalled the night of November 25, 2006. She testified that she did. She remembers arriving home around 8:00 p.m. after work. Tr. 172. She confirmed Bennett, his son, and another boy were present at the trailer. Tr. 173. Williamson was not present. Tr. 175. She stated she went to bed around 9:00 p.m., and all

³ Wilson testified she recently married and she is therefore sometimes referred to as Amy Hollinghead in the record. Tr. 171.

three were still at the trailer. Tr. 174. Again, counsel confirmed this was the night of November 25th and early morning of November 26th. Tr. 174-75.

Wilson testified she did not see any of the three leave the trailer that night. She did wake up around 1:00 a.m. and confirmed Bennett and the two boys were still there. Tr. 175-76. Wilson admitted she was questioned by Investigator Mazingo about a fire, but told him she knew nothing about it. She remembers being asked about Bennett's whereabouts, and told Mazingo that Bennett was with her as far she knew. Tr. 177. She also confirmed she was almost completely out of gas after getting home from work. Although she did not remember when Bennett went to get some gas for her, she was able to drive the car the following day. Tr. 177-78.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in denying Bennett's alibi instruction, as this was the only instruction outlining his theory of defense. It was abundantly clear that Bennett's alibi witness was confused about the actual date of the fire. Bennett was deprived of his right to a fair trial when this instruction was denied, especially since most of the State's witnesses also testified about the wrong date.

Furthermore, the trial judge erred in refusing to *sua sponte* grant a mistrial for ineffective assistance of counsel. Even if the court was not in error in denying the alibi instruction, trial counsel was clearly ineffective for failing to properly present the defense. In fact, counsel led the alibi witness with questions about the incorrect dates twice. Counsel was also ineffective for failing to object to irrelevant evidence of gang affiliation and other

bad acts evidence, including the illegal possession of an assault rifle. The record reflects this could not reasonably be considered trial strategy and the trial judge should have acted to protect Bennett's right to a fair trial. His case must be reversed and remanded for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DENYING AN ALIBI INSTRUCTION TO APPELLANT, DEPRIVING HIM OF ANY INSTRUCTION ON HIS THEORY OF DEFENSE.

Although it was clear from the beginning of trial that Bennett was relying on an alibi defense, the State objected when his proposed jury instruction was considered.

BY THE COURT: Okay. All right. And then on the issue of the alibi, is that something that you would like to have presented here today, Mr. Evans?

BY MR. EVANS: Yes, sir. And it was a mistake on the part of Mr. Bennett's attorney as far as the dates are concerned. The indictment says, On or about November the 25th, 2006. I asked Ms. Wilson or Ms. Hollinghead as to the whereabouts of Mr. Bennett on or about November the 25th and 26th of 2006. As the indictment says that it was on or about that time, my understanding as the indictment alleged that it was the date of the 25th. I think it—

BY THE COURT: Which it was.

BY MR. EVANS: Sir? Which it was. And it was my mistake as to the – and I didn't realize that until just now as to what occurred.

BY THE COURT: Okay. What's the State's position here?

BY MR. ANGERO: If it please the Court, I mean, that's not uncommon that there's a misunderstanding particularly between alibi witnesses and Defense attorneys when they think that they're talking about one period of time and they're not talking about that time. But the fact remains that there's no testimony in the record that would make an alibi instruction appropriate. There has to be a factual basis for any instruction to be given, and the fact that 24 hours after the fact Ms. Hollinghead may or may not have know the whereabouts of the Defendant is not a factual basis for an alibi instruction. It

just simply doesn't work. I mean – and quite honestly, Judge, I was a little bit leery about asking her those questions, but she didn't seem to know anything at all about the 24th. She'd never been questioned about the 24th. Everything she had to say was about the 25th, and I can understand how that's – how that could, you know, be misconstrued by Defense counsel. But the facts without any doubt show that at 1:01 a.m on the 25th of – the call – the 911 call came in as to the fire. Now, by no stretch of the imagination can you say that a jury could conclude from the testimony that we have here that she was actually talking about the 24th and 25th because without a doubt, she stated that it was not the 24th and 25th but the 25th and 26th; not only on Marcus' questioning of her but on my questions of her. So it's not appropriate for an alibi instruction to be given.

BY THE COURT: Any response?

BY MR. EVANS: But, your Honor, the thing I – and to preserve the record, I mean, if – I understand Mr. Angero's position, but I don't know if the alibi witness – I didn't ask her any questions as to Mr. Bennett's whereabouts on the 24^{th} . She was under subpoena power today. I mistakenly ignored the fact that she was giving testimony as to the 25^{th} and 26^{th} . In my mind, I had it on the 25^{th} and the 26^{th} , and that's my mistake. It should have been the 24^{th} and 25^{th} . I think she thought that's what she was saying; but, you know, that ain't what I asked her.

BY THE COURT: It's not what you asked her –

BY MR. EVANS: And so -

BY THE COURT: — and she clearly stated that she was talking about the evening of the 25th and early morning hours of the 26th. That on cross-examination was confirmed, directly asked and — by Mr. Angero, and she again confirmed that she was talking about the evening of the 25th and the morning of the 26th, no question about it. There is no issue here made by her testimony that would — that will justify the Court giving D-8 in the opinion of this Court. And for whatever reason — I don't know — why, you know, her testimony was related to some other time, but the fact is her testimony creates no justification for an alibi here, D-8 is refused....

Tr. 193-195.

The Appellant concedes that Ms. Wilson did indeed testify concerning the evening of November 25th into the early morning of November 26th. Tr. 172, 174-75, 179, 180-81, 181-82. However, this was result of being given the date by defense counsel in a leading question. Ms. Wilson was there to give Bennett an alibi for the night of the fire. A reasonable juror could have inferred she was testifying about the night of the fire. In fact, several of the State's own witnesses testified to the wrong date of the fire. Williamson testified he first met up with Bennett when he got off of work on November 25th. Tr. 71. Clearly he meant to say November 24th. Only a later leading question by the State could clear up the confusion.

Q. Now, are we talking about the late night of the 24th and the early morning of the 25th, or are we talking about the late night of the 25th and the early morning of the 26th?

A. Whichever – it was the early morning, whatever day it was it burned down because – I'm guessing the 25th.

Q. So the 25^{th} . When we talk about the 25^{th} , you are talking about the evening of the 24^{th} and then –

A. Uh-huh, early morning of 25th.

Q. - early morning of 25th?

A. Yes, sir.

Tr. 77-78.

Everett's testimony had the same flaw. When being questioned by the State, he remembered the day of November 25th when they all got together and rode around town. Tr. 94. He also clearly meant November 24th. Incredibly, the State also made the same mistake

with Blakley. He too was asked by the State if he remembered being with Everett and Bennett on November 25th. Tr. 113. Unlike with Williamson, the dates were never corrected as to Everett and Blakley.

The standard of review for the denial of jury instructions is well-known. When reviewing the denial of a proposed jury instruction, an appellate court must view the instructions as a whole. *Johnson v. State*, 926 So.2d 246 (¶7) (Miss.App. 2005).

"When a defendant asserts the defense of alibi, and presents testimony in support of that defense, the defendant is entitled to a jury instruction focusing upon such a theory." $Cochran\ v.\ State,\ 913\ So.2d\ 371,\ 375(\P\ 14)$ (Miss.App.2005). However, the instructions must be supported by the evidence. Id. "Where proof does not support an alibi defense, the instruction should not be granted." Id.

Roper v. State, No. 2006-KA-01791-COA (¶12) (Miss.App. January 8, 2008).

Obviously, the record indicates the trial judge did not believe that Ms. Wilson's testimony provided a sufficient factual basis for the instruction. However, it should be noted that the State's elements instruction stated the crime occurred "on or about November 25, 2006." C.P. 26. Given the clear uncertainty from several witnesses concerning the actual date of the fire, a reasonable juror could have believed Wilson was off by one day. A defendant is entitled to jury instructions on his theory of the case whenever there is evidence that would support a jury's finding on that theory. *Jackson v. State*, 645 So.2d 921, 924 (Miss. 1994). Even the 'flimsiest of evidence' is sufficient to mandate a trial court's giving an instruction on the [defendant's] proposed theory, but there must be some 'probative value'

to that evidence. *Miller v. State*, 733 So.2d 846 (¶7) (Miss.App. 1998)." *Goff v. State*, 778 So.2d 779 (¶5) (Miss.App. 2000).

Again, Wilson did give evidence, at least in her mind, indicating Bennett was at another place at the time of the fire. Even though her memory (and counsel's memory) of the dates were off by 24 hours, Bennett was entitled to an alibi instruction.

Where a party offers evidence sufficient that a rational jury might find for him on the particular issue, that party of right is entitled to have the court instruct the jury on that issue and through this means submit the issue to the jury for its decision.

Anderson v. State, 571 So.2d 961, 964 (Miss. 1990).

The weight and worth of the testimony, so long as it is more than a mere scintilla, is to be decided by the jury upon proper instruction:

The defense is entitled to an instruction covering its theory of the case so long as there is evidence in the record that would support that theory without regard to the probative value of that evidence so long as it is more than a mere scintilla of proof. *E.g. McGee v. State*, 820 So.2d 700 (¶9) (Miss.Ct.App. 2000).

Lester v. State, 862 So.2d 582, 586 (Miss.App. 2004).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has found where a defendant's proffered instruction has an evidentiary basis, properly states the law, and is the only instruction presenting his theory of the case, it is reversible error to refuse it. *Hester v. State*, 602 So2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1992), citing *Murphy v. State*, 566 So.2d 1201, 1207 (Miss. 1990), and *Sayles v. State*, 552 So.2d 1383, 1390 (Miss. 1989). Even though *Hester* is going on sixteen years old, the

Supreme Court, just last year, reiterated the same principals in *Chinn v. State*, 958 So.2d 1223 (Miss. 2007), where the Court held:

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