IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHNNY BENNETT

APPELLANT

FILED

VS.

JUN 3 0 2008

NO. 2008-KA-0153-COA

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

RACHEL BLAIR

ATTORNEY GENERAL LEGAL INTERN

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF FACTS
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT S Issue I.
THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GRANT AN ALIBI INSTRUCTION BECAUSE THE
ALIBI WITNESS NEVER PRESENTED AN ACTUAL ALIBI
THE DEFENDANT'S COUNSEL EFFECTIVELY ASSISTED THE DEFENDANT BECAUSE THE
COUNSEL DID NOT PERFORM DEFICIENTLY AND ANY ALLEGED DEFICIENCY DID NOT
PREJUDICE THE DEFENDANT
CONCLUSION14
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Henderson v. Cockrell, 333 F.3d 592, 602 (5th Cir. 2003)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)
STATE CASES
Anderson v. State, 904 So.2d 973, 980 (Miss. 2004)
Cochran v. State, 913 So.2d 371, 375 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)
Hoops v. State, 681 So.2d 521, 530 (Miss. 1996)
Hulburt v. State, 803 So.2d 1277, 1279 (Miss. 2002)
Jones v. State, 911 So.2d 556, 560 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)
Owens v. State, 809 So.2d 744, 747 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)
Smith v. State, 835 So.2d 927, 934 (Miss. 2002)
Wynn v. State, 964 So.2d 1196, 1200 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)
STATE STATUTES
Mississippi Code Appotated 8 97-17-1 (1972)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHNNY BENNETT

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0153-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

The Grand Jury for Wayne County, Mississippi, indicted Johnny Bennett for setting fire and burning Sharlameshia Arrington and Eddie James Poole's trailer on November 25, 2006 pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-17-1 (1972). CP 8. The jury convicted the defendant of arson. T. 218; CP 39. The court sentenced the defendant to twenty (20) years. T. 268; CP 53. The defendant appeals his conviction and now appears before this honorable court. CP 43.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 24, 2006, Edward Williamson, Jameer Everett, and Legarrian Blakely rode around in Williamson's car with Johnny Bennett, the defendant. T. 73, 94, 114. Everett and Blakely both testified they went to Eddie Poole's trailer because the defendant had a problem with him. T. 95, 115-16. According to Williamson and Everett the defendant carried an assault rifle in his car. T. 75, 95

When the defendant discovered Mr. Poole was not home, the defendant requested they drive to Everett's house to retrieve a gas jug. T. 74, 97, 116. Everett, the defendant's son, exited his house with a clear jug like one that would contain orange juice. T. 72, 92, 97, 116-17. The thugs arrived at a gas station. At the defendant's request, Williamson pumped four (4) dollars of gas into the car and one (1) dollar into the jug. T. 74, 99.

After leaving the gas station, Blakely's father phoned and requested Blakely come home. T. 77, 99, 117. The thugs dropped Blakely off at home. T. 79, 99, 117. Both Williamson and Everett requested Everett not be involved. T. 80, 101. The two remaining men dropped Everett off at the defendant's house. T. 101.

After dropping Everett off, the two criminals drove to Mr. Poole's trailer. T. 81. The defendant exited the car, kicked in Mr. Poole's front door, doused the living room with the gas from the jug, and lit the trailer on fire. T. 81.

The criminals fled home. T. 82. The defendant told Everett and Williamson to lie that the defendant purchased the gas for his girlfriend's car. T. 103.

Jennifer Reed, neighbor to Mr. Poole, witnessed a car parked across the street from her. T. 129. Ms. Reed heard witnessed her neighbor's house on fire and called 911. T. 128-30.

Sharlameshia Arrington lived with Eddie Poole and their four children. T. 122. Ms. Arrington dropped off Christmas presents at the trailer earlier in the day. T. 123. Ms. Arrington left to visit her mother. T. 123. Early in the morning of November 25, Ms. Arrington received a call that her trailer caught on fire. T. 124. Ms. Arrington and Mr. Poole's home burned completely. T. 124. They had no insurance. T. 125.

Mike Mazingo, an arson investigator with Wayne County Sheriff's Department, investigated the fire. T. 143. Officer Mazingo determined the fire was arson. T. 144.

Officer Mazingo interviewed Williamson, Everett, and Blakely. T. 149. They all eventually told Officer Mazingo the same series of events. T. 149. The defendant called Everett while Mazingo interviewed Everett. Mazingo listened to the conversation and heard the defendant tell Everett to stick to the original plan. T. 105, 146.

Officer Mazingo obtained a warrant to search the defendant's trailer. T. 150.

Officer Mazingo discovered an assault weapon, a gas jug, and Vice Lords constitution. T. 150-51. Everett informed Officer Mazingo the gas jug was not the one used that night. T. 150.

During the trial, both the State and defendant repeatedly asked about the night of November 25th instead of November 24th. The State asked Williamson if the arson was a gang initiation. T. 76. Williamson denied it related to a gang. T. 76. The defendant's attorney asked Williamson about a gang to squash the motive the State tried to establish. T. 90. The State also questioned Everett about the defendant's involvement in a gang. T. 107. Everett claimed he had no knowledge of any gang affiliation. T. 109-11.

The State questioned Williamson, Everett, and Blakely about an assault rifle.

T. 83, 95, 116. When questioning Everett, the defendant's attorney objected to the questions about the assault rifle. T. 101.

The defendant called Amy Wilson to the stand. T. 170. The defendant questioned Ms. Wilson to establish an alibi. During the period when the defendant committed the crime, Ms. Wilson lived with the defendant. T. 171. Ms. Wilson testified the defendant, his son, and another boy were at the defendant's house when she arrived home from work on November 25. T. 173. Ms. Wilson went to bed soon after arriving home. T. 174. She awoke at one point in the night, and the defendant

was there. T. 176. The judge refrained from granting an alibi instruction because Ms. Wilson testified about November 25th and not November 24th. T. 195. The jury convicted the defendant of arson. T. 218.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Issue I.

Whether the trial judge properly refrained from granting an alibi instruction?

Issue II.

Whether the defendant's counsel effectively assisted him with jury instructions and objections?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly refrained from granting an alibi instruction. The alibi witnessed testified about the day after the crime occurred. She did not give him an alibi for the night of the actual crime. Additionally, the alibi witness slept through the time in question. The defendant could have left and came back without the alibi witness ever knowing. Therefore, the trial judge properly refrained from granting an alibi instruction.

The defendant's counsel effectively assisted the defendant. The defendant did not perform deficiently. Additionally, any alleged deficiency did not prejudice the defendant. Therefore, the defendant's counsel effectively assisted the defendant.

ARGUMENT

Issue I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GRANT AN ALIBI INSTRUCTION BECAUSE THE ALIBI WITNESS NEVER PRESENTED AN ACTUAL ALIBI.

The trial court properly refused to grant an alibi instruction. The alibi witness never presented an actual alibi. Since no alibi existed, the trial court should not instruct the jury about an alibi. Therefore, the court should affirm.

When reviewing jury instructions, the standard of review requires the Court to read and take the instruction as a whole. *Smith v. State*, 835 So.2d 927, 934 (Miss. 2002). If the jury instructions fairly announce the law, they are sufficient. *Id*.

When instructing the jury, the court does not grant an alibi instruction if the evidence does not support an alibi. *Cochran v. State*, 913 So.2d 371, 375 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Evidence does not support an alibi "if the asserted alternate location is such that, based on version of events contended for by the defense, it would remain within the realm of physical possibility for the defendant to have committed the crime." *Owens v. State*, 809 So.2d 744, 747 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

In *Cochran*, a witness testified that the defendant was at home. *Cochran*, 913 So.2d at 375. During cross, the witness admitted that the defendant may have spent the night elsewhere. *Id.* The Court held the trial court properly refrained from granting an alibi instruction. *Id.*

In *Owens*, the defendant testified he was asleep when the murder occurred. The Court found his testimony was a denial and not an alibi. *Owens*, 809 So.2d at 747.

According to precedent, the trial properly refrained from granting an alibi instruction. The defendant's attorney asked the alibi witness to testify about the defendant's whereabouts on day after the defendant committed the crime. T. 175. Providing the whereabouts for the next day does not provide the defendant with an alibi.

Additionally, Wilson did not provide an alibi. She testified she arrived home around eight in the evening. T. 172. Wilson saw the defendant, his son, and another boy sitting around the living room. T. 173. Wilson testified she went to sleep around nine and awoke once in the evening. T. 174-76. The defendant could have left at any time and lit the trailer on fire and returned without Wilson knowing he ever left. Testifying that the defendant was home when she went to sleep did not provide the defendant with an alibi.

Wilson did not testify to the correct evening. Wilson did not provide an alibi.

Therefore, the Court should affirm.

Issue II.

THE DEFENDANT'S COUNSEL EFFECTIVELY ASSISTED THE DEFENDANT BECAUSE THE COUNSEL DID NOT PERFORM DEFICIENTLY AND ANY ALLEGED DEFICIENCY DID NOT PREJUDICE THE DEFENDANT.

The defendant's counsel effectively assisted the defendant. The counsel did not perform deficiently. Any alleged deficiency did not prejudice the defendant. Therefore, the defendant's counsel effectively assisted the defendant, and the Court should affirm.

As decided by the United States Supreme Court, the standard of review for ineffective counsel is set out as a two-part test. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). The defendant must prove the following: (1) the counsel performed deficiently and (2) the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. *Id.*

A rebuttable presumption exists where an attorney's behavior lies within the "ambit of reasonable professional standards." *Hulburt v. State*, 803 So.2d 1277, 1279 (Miss. 2002) (quoting *McQuarter v. State*, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990)). To rebut the presumption, the defendant must prove the proceedings would have ended differently. *Wynn v. State*, 964 So.2d 1196, 1200 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); *Jones v. State*, 911 So.2d 556, 560 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Many of the things an attorney does or does not do during a trial are considered part of his trial strategy. *Anderson v. State*, 904 So.2d 973, 980 (Miss. 2004).

First, the defendant's counsel effectively assisted him with an alibi. Although the defendant's counsel may have been deficient when asking the alibi witness the wrong date, the deficiency did not prejudice the defendant. Amy Wilson testified the defendant was at home. T. 173. Wilson went to sleep. T. 174. The defendant could have left and returned without Wilson ever knowing. This is not an alibi. Even with the alibi instruction, the outcome of the trial would have been the same. Failure to ask the witness about the correct date did not prejudice the defendant. Therefore, the defendant's counsel effectively assisted the defendant.

Next, the defendant's counsel effectively assisted him when he allowed gang-related questions. According to Mississippi Rules of Evidence, character evidence is admissible to establish motive. M.R.E. § 404(b). According to *Hoops*, counsel can introduce gang evidence to prove motive. *Hoops v. State*, 681 So.2d 521, 530 (Miss. 1996). Although no case exists directly on point in Mississippi, the Fifth Circuit decided a case dealing with gang evidence and ineffective counsel. In *Henderson*, the State introduced gang related evidence. *Henderson v. Cockrell*, 333 F.3d 592, 602 (5th Cir. 2003). The defendant's counsel did not object. *Id.* The court held counsel effectively assisted the defendant because no reasonable probability existed that the jury would acquit him. *Id.*

In this case, the State questioned the witnesses about gang affiliation to

establish a motive. The State tried to establish gang initiation as the motive. T. 76. The State did not succeed in establishing a motive. T. 76. Both of the witnesses with the defendant on the night of the crime denied it involved a gang initiation. T. 76, 90, 107. According to precedent, the State can mention gang affiliation to establish a motive. The defendant's attorney properly assisted the defendant in relation to the gang evidence. Not objecting was part of his trial strategy. He wanted to make sure the jury knew the crime did not involve a gang. If he had objected, all the jury would remember is the State asking witnesses about a gang and not their answers. Therefore, he did not perform deficiently.

Even if the court finds the defendant's counsel performed deficiently, the deficiency did not prejudice the defendant. A surplus of testimony established the defendant committed the crime. Removing the gang-related questions would not change the result of the trial. Therefore, the gang-related questions did not prejudice the defendant.

The defendant's counsel did not perform deficiently when he did not object to the gang-related questions. The counsel's lack of objections did not prejudice the defendant. Therefore, the defendant's attorney performed effectively.

Finally, the defendant's counsel properly dealt with testimony about an assault rifle. The defendant's counsel objected to the questions about the assault rifle. T.

101. He did not think the questions were relevant to the case. T. 101. The defendant's counsel could do nothing more than object. Therefore, the defendant's counsel performed effectively.

Even if the Court finds deficiency, the deficiency did not prejudice the defendant. The defendant did not prove eliminating this testimony would change the outcome of the trial. Therefore, the deficiency did not prejudice the defendant.

In conclusion, the defendant's counsel effectively assisted him with alibi instructions, gang-related evidence, and irrelevant testimony. Therefore, the Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

The defendant's witness did not provide the defendant an alibi. She testified to the wrong date. She slept through the time period she claimed the defendant was at home. Therefore, the trial court properly refused to grant an alibi jury instruction. The Court should affirm on the alibi issue.

The defendant's counsel effectively assisted him throughout the trial. The defendant's counsel did not perform deficiently when questioning the alibi witness. If the trial court granted an alibi instruction, the jury's verdict would remain the same. The defendant's counsel did not perform deficiently by allowed the State to introduce gang-related evidence. Removal of the gang-related evidence would not change the outcome of the trial. The defendant's counsel did not perform deficiently when he objected to irrelevant questions about an assault weapon. The outcome of the trial would remain the same if the State never asked a question about the assault weapon. Therefore, the defendant's counsel effectively performed. The Court should affirm the defendant receive effective assistance.